IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ORVILLE LEE JOHNSON,

APPELLANT,

v.

CASE NO. 2008 -CA-01418

RITA FRANCES BURFORD HERRON, JOHN CAL BURFORD JR., and PATRICIA A. GRANTHAM,

APPELLEES.

Appeal from the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi Cause No. 05-04-587 (ML)

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Dan Little, Esquire, Pro Hac Vice OK Bar No. 5462 Sherry P. Thompson, Pro Hac Vice NM Bar No. 9508, TX Bar No. 24056604 Little, Little, Little, Windel, Oliver, Landgraf & Gallagher, PLLC 202 West Lillie Boulevard Post Office Box 618 Madill, OK 73446 Telephone: (580) 795-3397

James W. Amos, Esquire MS Bar No. 1559 2430 Caffey St. Hernando, MS 38632 Telephone: (662) 429-7873

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the Chancery Court commit reversible error in accepting as true material facts as averred by Defendants, rather than viewing disputed facts in the light most favorable to Plaintiff?
- 2. Did the Chancery Court err in holding that there were no genuine issues of material fact in dispute in this action?
- 3. Did the Chancery Court err in awarding summary judgment to Defendants and overruling Plaintiff's Motion to Set Aside, for Reconsideration or Rehearing?
- 4. Is Appellant entitled to partial Summary Judgment as a matter of law based upon the admitted and undisputed facts favorable to the Appellant, especially in regards to the deeds not having been signed by the spouse, making the deeds void as a matter of law and being an omitted spouse in the will of Mary Johnson?
- 5. Did the Chancery Court err in finding that the settlement agreement dealt with all assets of Chester Johnson's estate, both known and unknown?
- 6. Did the Chancery Court err in finding that the Plaintiff benefitted from the settlement agreement regarding Chester Johnson's estate?
- 7. Did the Chancery Court commit error by finding that O.L. Johnson and Rita Herron as co-administrators of Chester's Estate were adversarial parties?
- 8. Did the Chancery Court err in finding that judicial estoppel precluded O.L. Johnson's claims against the Defendants?
- 9. Did the Chancery Court err in holding that equitable estoppel precluded O.L. Johnson's claims against the Defendants?
- 10. Did the Chancery Court err in holding that Chester Johnson voluntarily abandoned his homestead even though he had been committed to the state hospital in a court adjudication of

incompetency?

- 11. Did the Chancery Court err in not finding that Rita Herron had intentionally misled O.L. Johnson about the DeSoto County realty?
- 12. Did the Chancery Court err in failing to find that the deeds of gift were presumed void for undue influence, and failing to find that Rita Herron breached her fiduciary duties to Chester and Mary Johnson?
- 13. Did the Chancery Court err in failing to find that the presumption of undue influence had not been rebutted by the Defendants?
- 14. Was it error by the Chancery Court to fail to find that joinder of the spouse in the deeds transferring the real estate was necessary?
- 15. Did the Chancery Court err in failing to find that as a matter of law Chester was vested in one-half of Mary's estate as a spouse omitted under her will?
- 16. Did the Chancery Court err in failing to find that Rita had a conflict of interest in her dual positions as both the executrix of Mary's estate and Chester's conservator during his incompetency?
- 17. Did the Chancery Court err in applying the equitable doctrine of laches to the facts in this case where the statute of limitations had not run?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature Of The Case, Course Of Proceedings, And Disposition In The Court Below.

This controversy arose due to a dispute regarding (1) who rightfully owns two parcels of real estate located in Mississippi (the "DeSoto Property," consisting of approximately 24 acres, situated in DeSoto County, and the "Tate Property," consisting of approximately 150 acres, situated in Tate County), (2) what ownership interest passed to Plaintiff from the estate of his father, Chester

Johnson ("Chester"), as an omitted spouse and pretermitted heir of the estate his wife, Mary B. Rowland Johnson ("Mary"), and (3) whether Defendant Rita Frances Burford Herron ("Rita") breached her fiduciary duties to Chester by failing to assert and to protect Chester's interests as a pretermitted heir and omitted spouse in his wife Mary's Estate because of Rita's conservatorship over Chester during his incapacity, because of being executrix of Mary's estate during the same time, and because of being a primary beneficiary under the deeds and will. (C.R. pp. 7 - 15.)

This action was filed by Plaintiff Orville Lee Johnson ("O.L.") in the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi, on April 5, 2005 against the purported current owners of these properties, Defendants Rita Frances Burford Herron ("Rita"), John Cal Burford Jr. ("John Cal"), and their then grantee Patricia A. Grantham ("Grantham"). In his Amended Petition filed on December 2, 2005, Plaintiff O.L. prayed for relief against the Defendants, and an adjudication from the Court that (1) the deed from Mary dated August 18, 1986, purporting to convey the DeSoto Property to Defendants Rita and John Cal, was void due to Chester's incompetence, and therefore Plaintiff O.L. is the actual sole owner of the DeSoto property as the sole heir of the surviving joint tenant, Chester; (2) in the alternative, if the trial court were to find the 1986 DeSoto County deed valid, then Chester retained his protected homestead and marital rights in one-half of the DeSoto and the Tate Properties because he did not sign the deeds and as an omitted spouse and a pretermitted heir under his wife's will; (3) Defendant Rita, as conservator of Chester Johnson during incapacity, breached her fiduciary duties to Chester in failing to assert and protect his interests in the DeSoto and Tate Properties and the estate of his wife as a pretermitted heir and omitted spouse under Mary's will, her breaches and omissions inuring to Rita's personal benefit as a primary beneficiary and purported owner of said property, and Rita should thus pay Chester's estate for the financial losses she caused him: (4) Defendants Rita and John Cal's deed of sale of the DeSoto Property to Patricia A. Grantham

on January 5, 1998 failed to pass fee simple title, as Rita and John Cal held no, or at most an undivided one-half, ownership interest in this tract, and therefore, Plaintiff should be adjudicated the fee simple owner, or in the alternative the one-half owner of the DeSoto parcel, and Plaintiff is entitled to collect any remaining mortgage indebtedness on the property owed by purported buyer Patricia A. Grantham (now moot); and (5) as an omitted spouse and pretermitted heir under his wife's will, Chester became the one-half owner of all property held by his wife's estate at death, and at Chester's death in 1998, his sole living son, Plaintiff O.L., was vested with ownership rights in these personal and real properties. (C.R. p. 7.)

On August 2, 2007, Defendants moved for summary judgment. (C.R. p. 148.) By its ruling from the bench on February 6, 2008, and written order dated April 9, 2008, Chancellor Mitchell M. Lundy Jr. found in favor of Defendants, granting summary judgment against Plaintiff, and expressly holding that "the Court does hereby render its decision and finds that there is no genuine issue as to a material fact and the motion for summary judgment to dismiss this action shall be granted." (C.R. p. 259.)

Plaintiff timely filed a Motion to Set Aside, for Reconsideration or Rehearing on April 11, 2008, enumerating no less than 22 instances of material facts disputed by the parties, despite the Chancellor's ruling that no issues of material fact existed and other errors. (C.R. p. 274.) By Order filed July 22, 2008, the Chancellor overruled Plaintiff's Motion to Set Aside, for Reconsideration or Rehearing. (C.R. p. 449.)

On August 18, 2008 Plaintiff filed his Notice of Appeal from the lower court's order granting summary judgment and denying Plaintiff's postjudgment Motion to Set Aside, for Reconsideration or Rehearing and from the Court's final Order. (C.R. p. 451.)

II. Statement Of Facts.

Chester and Mary Rowland Johnson were married on August 31, 1958 and lived together as husband and wife until shortly before the death of Mary Rowland Johnson on December 26, 1986. (C.R. p. 9.) It was only a month before Mary's death that Chester was placed in the State Hospital at Whitfield as being a person likely to cause harm to himself or others. (C.R. p. 174.) Chester was adjudicated *non compos mentis* in September of 1987 and remained at the State Hospital until his death on May 23, 1998. (C.R. pp. 140, 178, 179, 182.) The DeSoto Property was purchased shortly before the couple's marriage in Mary's name alone with the intent that this realty was to be their marital residence and homestead. (C.R. pp. 9, 156.) By deed dated May 7, 1963, Mary conveyed the DeSoto property to herself and Chester, to be held in tenancy by the entireties. (C.R. pp. 9, 25, 68.) Chester and Mary had no children of their own, natural or adopted, but Chester had a son from a previous marriage, Plaintiff O.L. Johnson. (C.R. pp. 9, 25, 68.)

On December 28, 1977, Mary executed a Last Will and Testament leaving all of her property to her niece and nephew, Rita and John Cal. The property specifically devised consisted of three rings, personalty, and the Tate Property, in which Mary held an interest through inheritance. This will made no mention of her husband Chester, nor even acknowledged Mary's marital status, clearly leaving Chester as an omitted spouse and pretermitted heir of his wife as an undisputed fact. (C.R. p. 158.)

Prior to 1978, Chester received treatment for colon cancer, developed an alcohol and drug dependency problem, and began to suffer from mental disease and incompetency. (C.R. pp. 10, 161, [Defendants' Exhibit "D", see ln. 23, 24 on pg. 15].)

By deed dated March 30, 1978, Mary and Chester purported to convey the DeSoto Property to Mary alone. Plaintiff contends that this deed was invalid due to Chester's incompetency, while

Defendants aver that this transfer was validly accomplished by Mary, who held power-of-attorney for her incapacitated husband. In fact the power of attorney was not used in the transfer. (C.R. pp. 47, [Defendants' Exhibit "C"], 160.) Despite this purported conveyance, Chester continued to maintain and believe that he was an owner of the DeSoto Property, and the couple continued to live there as their homestead until close to Mary's death. (C.R. p. 223.)

On August 18, 1986, shortly before her death from lung cancer, Mary signed three deeds not signed by her husband purporting to unilaterally deed the DeSoto and Tate Properties to her niece and nephew, Defendants Rita and John Cal. (C.R. pp. 166 - 171.) The DeSoto Property was the homestead of Mary and Chester at the time of the August 18, 1986 conveyance, and none of these deeds of gift even acknowledged the marital status of the grantor Mary. (C.R. pp. 166 - 171.)

Shortly thereafter, at the instigation and direction of Defendant Rita, Chester was involuntarily confined in a convalescent home, from which records show that Chester tried to escape so as to return to his DeSoto homestead. (C.R. p. 172, ¶3.) In November 1986, again at the instigation of Rita, legal proceedings were initiated to have Chester committed to the Mississippi State Hospital by reason of insanity, which was done. (C.R. p. 174.)

Mary died on December 27, 1986. (C.R. p. 175.) Her will was admitted to probate on January 12, 1987. (C.R. pp. 363, 364.) Although Mary's will failed to acknowledge her marital status, thus leaving her institutionalized and incompetent husband Chester as an omitted spouse and a pretermitted heir, no guardian ad litem was appointed to protect Chester's interests in his wife's estate. (*Id.*) Rita, as Conservator of Chester, failed to assert his marital and homestead rights in the probate of Mary's estate. Rita was also serving as the administrator of Mary's estate, which estate remains open to this day. (C.R. pp. 178, 179.)

On or about July 30, 1987, Defendant Rita filed her Petition for Appointment of Conservator

for Chester. Chester was adjudicated to be incompetent, and Rita was nominated conservator of Chester on September 2, 1987, serving in this fiduciary role until Chester's death eleven years later.

(Id.)

Chester died while still involuntarily confined in the Mississippi State Hospital, on May 23, 1998. (C.R. p. 182.) No will was located upon Chester's death, although Rita and John Cal contended that Chester did have a will devising to them one-half of his estate. The known assets of Chester's estate consisted of funds held in a checking account in the sum of \$27,659.22, and two insurance policies with benefits totaling \$20,454.86. (C.R. p. 390.) O.L. believed that Chester died possessed of interests in realty as well, but Rita and her attorney affirmatively asserted that no such real property interest existed, failing to disclose the deeding of the DeSoto and Tate Properties to Rita and John Cal by Mary in 1986. (C.R. p. 183, 184.) Pursuant to a Settlement Agreement dated August 1, 2001, the estate of Chester was distributed through intestacy, with O.L. as the sole heir receiving 60% of the estate, and the remaining 40% distributed to Rita and John Cal. (C.R. p. 255, 256.) On May 14, 2002, Plaintiff O.L. and Defendant Rita were appointed as co-executors of Chester's estate, as stated in the Order to Distribute Estate Assets dated September 11, 2002. (C.R. p. 409.) The Settlement Agreement did not include unknown assets but was limited to the division of the bank accounts and insurance proceeds, as clearly admitted by C. Gaines Baker, then attorney for Rita and John Cal. (C.R. p. 344 [Deposition of C. Gaines Baker, p. 37, ln. 6 - 15, p. 38.)

After the known assets of Chester's estate had been distributed pursuant to the compromise agreement, Chester's interests in the realty in the DeSoto and Tate Properties were discovered.

On or about January 5, 1998, Defendants Rita and John Cal purportedly conveyed by warranty deed the DeSoto Property to purchaser Patricia A. Grantham ("Patricia"), also a defendant in this action. (C.R. pp. 96, 97, 98.) Patricia then granted a deed of trust in the sum of \$172,000 for

this land, payable in 240 amortized payments of \$1,438.68, the first mortgage payment coming due on January 15, 1998, with monthly payments continuing until December 15, 2017. (C.R. pp. 99 - 102.) Patricia took bankruptcy and deeded the property back to Rita and John Cal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As a primary basis for grating summary judgment, the Court found as an undisputed fact that the prior Settlement Agreement between the Plaintiff and Defendants making division of the known bank accounts and two insurance policies and the distribution of the bank accounts and two insurance policies in the Estate of Chester Johnson estopped the Plaintiff from claiming the later discovered real property. This finding was erroneous because the Settlement Agreement and probate documents were limited to only the known assets and contained no other broad language to include unknown assets. O. L. Johnson clearly testified and claimed that the Settlement Agreement and probate documents were limited to the bank accounts and insurance policies. Gaines Baker, the former attorney for Rita and Cal who represented them in the Settlement Agreement and Chester Johnson Estate, testified clearly and unequivocally that it was never the intention to settle claims for real estate or any other assets not specifically listed. Not only was there much disputed evidence, there was almost no basis to justify any finding that the Settlement Agreement and Chester Johnson probate would constitute estoppel. Gaines Baker even specifically testified that "Mrs Rita" had told him there was no real estate in response to an inquiry by Dan Little, attorney for O. L. Johnson.

During the relevant periods of time it was also an undisputed fact that Rita had instigated the commitment of Chester Johnson to the State Hospital and had been appointed as his conservator from September 2, 1987 to his death in the State Hospital on May 23, 1998. In the Chester Johnson estate, Rita served as Co-Administratrix. In the Mary Johnson estate, Rita has served as the only

executrix, which estate is still open and in which no guardian ad litem was ever appointed for Chester Johnson.

It was also an undisputed fact that shortly before Mary's death she gave two deeds without consideration to her niece and nephew, Rita and John Cal, of the DeSoto County (homestead) and Tate County properties which deeds were not signed by Chester and which failed to state the marital status of Mary. On December 28, 1977, Mary made a will giving everything to Rita and John Cal without giving anything to Chester, without mentioning him in any way and without giving the marital status of Mary. Under Mississippi law, the deeds were void and Chester Johnson was a pretermitted heir.

Under Mississippi law, Rita had fiduciary duties as conservator of Chester Johnson from September 2, 1987 to his death and as Co-Administratrix of his estate and as Executrix of Mary's Estate. Rita failed and refused to disclose the real estate which had been deeded to her and her brother and failed to assert and to protect the claims and rights of Chester Johnson, failed to disclose, and failed to step aside from her three different fiduciary positions. Instead, Rita has followed a long, consistent pattern of breaches of her fiduciary duties to the detriment of Chester Johnson and now his only child, O. L. Johnson, for her own personal benefit and the benefit of her brother.

In addition to estoppel, the Court found laches against O. L. when in fact O. L. had no legal claim or standing until his father died in 1998. His action to recover the real property was brought within the ten-year statute of limitation and there is no basis whatsoever for laches against O. L. Johnson.

Based upon the disputed facts, summary judgment should be reversed. Based upon the undisputed facts pertaining to the deeds and will, partial summary judgment should be given to O.

L. Johnson holding the deeds to be void and Chester Johnson to be a pretermitted heir entitled to

one-half of his wife's estate.

Because of her egregious breaches of her fiduciary duties and failure and refusal to disclose her personal benefits, the doctrines of estoppel and laches should be applied against Rita.

ARGUMENT

I. IN ITS RULING FROM THE BENCH AND ORDERS GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE, FOR RECONSIDERATION OR REHEARING, THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY MAKING MULTIPLE ERRONEOUS FINDINGS OF FACT ON WHICH THE EVIDENCE WAS CLEARLY DISPUTED AND ERRONEOUS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

A. Standard Of Review.

The Mississippi Supreme Court employs a *de novo* standard of review in reviewing a lower court's grant of summary judgment. *Richmond v. Benchmark Constr. Corp.*, 692 So. 2d 60, 61 (Miss. 1997). A motion for summary judgment "challenges the *legal sufficiency* of the claim." *Skelton ex rel. Roden v. Twin County Rural Elec. Ass'n*, 611 So.2d 931, 935 (Miss. 1992) (emphasis added) (citing Miss. R. Civ. P. 56). As a result, summary judgment should only be granted with great caution. *Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Ass'n*, 656 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1995). "All motions for summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the trial court is to err, it is better to err on the side of denying the motion." *Daniels v. GNB, Inc.*, 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993). "A motion for summary judgment should be overruled unless the trial court finds, beyond any reasonable doubt, that the *plaintiff would be unable to prove any facts* to support his claim." *Burton v. Choctaw County*, 95-CA-00071-SCT (¶ 10), 730 So.2d 1, 3 (Miss. 1997).

Importantly, summary judgment cannot be employed to resolve any disputed, material factual issues:

"A motion for summary judgment is not a substitute for trial of disputed fact issues. Accordingly, the court cannot try issues of fact on a Rule 56 motion; it may only determine whether there are issues to be tried." Coleman Powermate, Inc. v. Rheem Mfg. Co., 880 So.2d 329, 332-33 (Miss. 2004) (emphasis added).

"The evidence is considered in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inferences that reasonably may be drawn therefrom." *James v. Mabus*, 574 So.2d 596, 600 (Miss. 1990). Similarly, when reviewing a lower court's award of summary judgment on appeal, "this Court views all evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant... and will presume that *all evidence in the non-movant's favor is true*." *Allen v. Mac Tools, Inc.*, 671 So.2d 636, 640 (Miss. 1996) (emphasis added).

"Issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a motion for summary judgment obviously are present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite." *Carter v. Miss. Dep't of Corrs.*, 860 So.2d 1187, 1190 (Miss. 2003). "If *any triable issues* of fact exist, the lower court's decision to grant summary judgment will be reversed." *Merrimack Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. McDill*, 674 So.2d 4, 7 (Miss. 1996) (emphasis added).

B. Errors Of Genuine Issues Of Material Fact And Erroneous Conclusions of Law.

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