# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ORVILLE LEE JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-01418

RITA FRANCES BURFORD HERRON, JOHN CAL BURFORD, JR., and PATRICIA A. GRANTHAM,

APPELLEES

#### BRIEF FOR APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE CHANCERY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPPI

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEES:
John T. Lamar, Jr. (MSB #: 1781)
LAMAR & HANNAFORD, P.A.
Attorneys at Law
214 S. Ward Street
Senatobia, MS 38668
Telephone: 662-562-6537

David M. Slocum, Jr. (MSB #: 101846) SLOCUM LAW FIRM, PLLC Attorneys at Law 329 Tate Street P. O. Box 249 Senatobia, MS 38668 Telephone: 662-301-0035

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

upon such conduct. PMZ Oil Co. v. Lucroy, 449 So.2d 201, 206 (Miss. 1984). The court in Lucroy went on to state that "whenever in equity and good conscience persons ought to behave ethically toward one another the seeds for a successful employment of equitable estoppel have been sown." Id.

In the case at bar, the Appellees, Herron and Burford, accepted a smaller percentage of Chester's estate than they believed to which they were entitled in order to close and finalize the estate and conservatorship. Johnson was aware of the actual terms of the lost will, and the detriment that Herron and Burford would receive under this agreement. (Appellees' R. 121-122). The Appellant had a change of heart and changed his position in regards to his father's estate and filed suit against the Appellees.

The Appellant continually attacks the Appellees on the basis that they secreted away the prior transactions and were hiding assets. However, the deeds were filed in the public record and were open and obvious to anyone conducting any sort of investigation into the assets. The public record clearly indicated that the real property did not belong to Chester. Appellant argument rests solely on his allegation that the subject deeds are void. In reality, the subject deeds are clearly valid, and the real property was not an asset that belonged to Chester.

D. ISSUE # 3: WHETHER SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS THAT CHESTER DID NOT HAVE ANY OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN THE REAL PROPERTY IN EITHER TATE OR DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI WAS APPROPRIATE.

In order to assist the Court in its analysis of the lower courts decision, the two (2) separate pieces of real property will be addressed in accordance with their locations.

i. DeSoto County Property.

The learned chancellor held that Chester voluntarily abandoned his homestead and therefore had no homestead interest in the property. (Appellees' R. 23). The only interest in the DeSoto county property that Chester could have possibly maintained would have arisen through his homestead rights as the husband of Mary. The Mississippi legislature has addressed these rights in Miss. Code Ann. § 89-1-29 states in pertinent part as follows:

"A conveyance, mortgage, deed of trust or other incumbrance upon a homestead exempted from execution shall not be valid or binding unless signed by the spouse of the owner if the owner be married and living with the spouse."

The requirement that the owner be living with the spouse is essential in determining whether the property is homestead. Merchants Nat'l Bank v. Southeastern Fire Ins. Co., 751 F.2d 771, 777 (5th Cir. 1985); citing Hendry v. Hendry, 300 So.2d 147, 149 (Miss. 1974); Philan v. Turner, 195 Miss. 172, 13 So.2d 819, 821 (1943). When a husband removes himself from homestead property

without any intent to return and his wife consents, the homestead is abandoned. *Id.; citing Lewis v. Ladner*, 177 Miss. 473, 1772 So. 312, 313-14 (1937). The question of whether an owner of property is living with a spouse is factual. *Philan*, 13 So.2d at 821.

Appellant strongly argues Section 85-3-21 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, as well as *Roberts v. Grisham*, 493 So.2d 940 (Miss. 1986) for support of his argument that Chester's abandonment of the property was involuntary. Miss. Code Ann. § 85-3-21 states in pertinent part as follows:

"...But husband or wife, widower or widow, over sixty (60) years of age, who has been an exemptionist under this section, shall not be deprived of such exemption because of not residing therein."

However, Miss. Code Ann. § 85-3-21 does not eliminate the requirement that an individual not voluntarily abandon his homestead. Further *Roberts* is distinguishable from the current case. In *Roberts*, the individual who abandoned the homestead was incarcerated in prison for the remainder of his natural life. Clearly, he had no choice about abandoning his property, but was instead removed from his homestead while wearing handcuffs.

The facts of this case reveal that in May of 1986, Chester voluntarily moved from the Desoto County property to Rosewood Assisted Living Facility in Memphis, Tennessee never to return to live with his wife. (Appellees' R. 79,80). Mary moved to Tate

County, never to live with Chester again. (Appellees' R. 79, 80). Clearly, Chester voluntarily abandoned any homestead interest that he might have had in the Desoto County property, thereby precluding any claim to the property even if the estoppel holdings were reversed.

The only evidence that the plaintiff has presented to support his assertion that Chester's abandonment was involuntary are statements by Rita that Chester needed care, that Mary could not do it, that Mary needed care from her family, that the address on the 1986 deeds for Mary was the Desoto County address, and reports in the commitment papers that Chester tried to escape. The lower court considered all of this evidence and determined that the abandonment was voluntary.

The facts are that Chester was a physically intimidating individual, who was not going to be forced to do anything against his wishes. (Appellees' R. 87-88, 122). Chester voluntarily abandoned his homestead in May of 1986 never to return, yet the commitment paperwork to have him confined to a treatment facility was not filed until November 10, 1986, some six (6) months later. (Appellees' R. 79,80, 87-88). The evidence is clear that Chester voluntarily abandoned his homestead.

### ii. Tate County property

The Tate County property was Burford family property inherited

by Mary, through her mother who was the grandmother of Herron and Burford. (Appellees' R. 79-80). Chester never lived on this property. (Appellees' R. 79,80). As a result, homestead rights do not apply to this property.

Incidentally, the only potential argument that the deeds on this property were void is that Burford and Herron exercised undue influence upon Mary. The undue influence argument could affect both DeSoto County and Tate County property, but will be addressed here as it is the only argument that concerns the validity of deed on the Tate County property.

Gifts of real property between family members are a normal occurrence, and Mississippi courts will not act when a conveyance between family members is a purely voluntary act. In re Estate of Summerlin, 989 So.2d 466, 477 (Miss.Ct.App. 2008); quoting In re Estate of Lane, 930 So.2d 421, 425 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005). In fact, a deed between family members alone and of itself raises no presumption of undue influence since the grantor is presumably the Further, Mississippi has defined a dominant party. Id. confidential relationship as a relationship between two people in which one person is in a position to exercise dominant influence upon the other because of the latter's dependency of the former arising either from weakness of mind or body, or through trust. In re Estate of Reid, 825 So.2d 1, 5 (Miss. 2002). However, the

burden of establishing the existence of a confidential relationship is upon the party asserting it. *Mullins v. Ratcliff*, 515 So.2d 1183, 1192 (Miss. 1987).

In the cases cited by the Appellant concerning undue influence, the facts revealed that the heirs-at-law and/or the intended beneficiaries under a valid last will and testament were excluded by the actions of an individual who took advantage of their relationship with the grantor in the final days of his or her life while the individual was in a weakened mental or physical In this case, Mary executed a will in 1977 that would have given the property to Herron and Burford. (Appellees' R. 73-74). Mary did not have any children of her own, and Herron and Burford were the closest surviving family members. (Appellees' R. 76). Further, Mary's mental and physical condition were sufficient for her to file commitment papers on her own husband in November of 1986, which was two (2) months subsequent to the execution of the deeds. (Appellees' R. 91-92). Mary was clearly the dominant party.

Appellant would have the court believe that the close family relationship between Mary, Herron and Burford combined with the fact that Herron and Burford assisted Mary with transportation to some of her numerous doctor's visits formed a confidential relationship. However, Herron lived forty five (45) miles away and

was busy raising her children. (Appellees' R. 80). Mary lived alone in a house separate from either of the Appellees. (Appellees' R. 79). The facts reveal that a family existed, but not a confidential relationship which would give rise to a presumption of undue influence. The learned chancellor recognized and applauded Herron for taking action when there was no one else to do so. (Appellees' R. 24).

E. ISSUE # 4: WHETHER SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS THAT CHESTER'S INTEREST AS AN OMITTED SPOUSE IN THE ESTATE OF MARY WAS INSUFFICIENT TO RENOUNCE MARY'S WILL WAS APPROPRIATE.

The learned chancellor found that Chester's interest in Mary's estate was less that the value of his estate, therefore it would be useless and a waste of time to litigate those undisputed issues once the Court found that the Deeds to the subject property were valid. (Appellees' R. 23). The Mississippi legislature laid out clear guidance for dealing with an omitted spouse beginning with Miss. Code Ann. § 91-5-27 which states as follows:

"If the will of the husband or wife shall not make any provision for the other, the survivor of them shall have the right to share in the estate of the deceased husband or wife, as in case of an unsatisfactory provision in the will of the husband or wife for the other of them. In such case a renunciation of the will shall not be necessary, but the rights of the survivor shall be as if the will had contained a provision that was unsatisfactory and it had been renounced."

The Mississippi legislature continued its guidance by

delineating clearly the process for determining the value of a spouse's interest upon renunciation of a will in Miss. Code Ann. § 91-5-25, which states as follows:

"...[upon renunciation the surviving spouse] shall be entitled to such part of [the deceased spouse's] estate, real and personal, as [the surviving spouse] would have been entitled to if [the deceased spouse] had died intestate, except that, even if the [deceased spouse] left no child nor descendant of such, the [surviving spouse], upon renouncing, shall be entitled to only one-half (1/2) of the real and personal estate of the [deceased spouse]..."

The Mississippi legislature further limited the value of a surviving spouse's interest in renunciation of a will in Miss. Code Ann. § 91-5-29, which states as follows:

"In case the [surviving spouse] have a separate property at the time of the [deceased spouse's] death, equal in value to what would be her lawful portion of [the deceased spouse's] real and personal estate, and [the deceased spouse] have made a will, [the surviving spouse] shall not be at liberty to signify her dissent to the will or to renounce any provision or bequest therein in her favor and elect to take her portion of the estate."

The aforementioned statutes make it clear that Chester's interest in the Estate of Mary was at the most one-half (1/2) of her estate. However, the value of Chester's estate must be balanced against his potential interest in Mary's estate to determine whether renunciation should take place. The net value of a surviving spouse's separate estate is ascertained by totaling the value of all property owned by the surviving spouse and by

deducting therefrom the debts of the surviving spouse. Banks v. Junk, 264 So.2d 387, 392 (Miss. 1972). Any insurance proceeds or proceeds payable to the deceased spouse as named beneficiary upon the death of the spouse are to be considered a part of the estate of the surviving spouse. Osburn v. Sims, 62 Miss. 429 (1884).

The Appellant relies upon Caine v. Bartwell, 120 Miss. 209, 82 So. 65 (1919) and Tillman v. Williams, 403 So. 2d 889 (Miss. 1981), as support for his argument that he is entitled to one-half (%) of the real property since Chester was an omitted spouse in Mary's In Caine, the surviving spouse was an omitted spouse that did not have a separate estate, the subject property was determined to be the couple's homestead, and the deeds to her nephews found to be void. In this case, the surviving spouse had a separate estate, the deeds were valid, and the deceased spouse's estate was of nominal value. Further, Chester voluntarily abandoned his homestead and Mary moved to another county, while the court in Tilman found that neither spouse had abandoned the homestead or While the will was renounced in regards to Chester by operation of law, the practical effect is that this renunciation did not provide Chester with any interest in Mary's estate when analyzed in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. § 91-5-29.

Since the questioned deeds are valid, Mary's estate was of nominal value. However, the value of Chester's estate was at least

\$23,684.71, which is the amount accounted for in the First Annual Accounting in the Conservatorship of Chester. (Appellee's R. 116). Clearly, Chester's estate was greater than his potential interest in Mary's estate. The Appellant's argument is without merit.

F. ISSUE # 5: WHETHER SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS THAT HERRON ACTED AS A REASONABLE PRUDENT PERSON UNDER SIMILAR CIRCUMSTANCES, AND FULFILLED HER DUTIES AS CONSERVATOR WAS APPROPRIATE.

An executor's or conservator's standard of care is one of ordinary care, skill, and prudence in the performance of all their duties. Estate of Carter, 912 So.2d 138, 144 (Miss. 2005). They are bound in all matters of the estate or conservatorship to act in good faith and employ such vigilance, sagacity, diligence and prudence as in general prudent persons of discretion and intelligence in like matters employ in their own affairs. Id.

Herron was assisted by attorneys throughout the entire process and dealt with documents that were prepared by trusted attorneys at every juncture questioned by the plaintiff. The learned chancellor accurately analyzed this situation when he stated as follows:

"Certainly, Chester's son, Orville Lee Johnson could have and should have had more to do with his father's Estate or his father in later years. Including but not limited to the conservatorship. He cannot now, after not having done so, criticize and second guess those who took action when there was no one else to do so."

The closest living relatives of Chester and Mary, outside of

Johnson, were Herron and Burford. Herron shouldered the burden of a conservatorship that lasted eleven (11) years, while attempting to insure that her aunt's final wishes were realized, due in large part to the fact that there was no alternative. (Appellees' R. 79, 93-94, 129). She did what ought to be done, but would not have been done unless she did it because she felt this was her duty. Based on the facts of this case, it is clear that Herron acted as any reasonable, prudent person would have acted under similar circumstances and fulfilled her duties as conservator and executrix.

### CONCLUSION

Appellant served as co-administrator in his father's estate, joined in the agreed order closing the estate which affirmatively stated that all of the assets of father's estate had been determined and were being disbursed. Clearly, the Appellant is judicially estopped bringing the current causes of actions against the Appellees which stem from his father's alleged interest in real property in Tate and DeSoto County, Mississippi.

Additionally, the Appellant induced the Appellees to sacrifice a portion of their interest in Chester's estate to resolve the dispute. The principles of equity require that the Appellant be equitably estopped from bringing his current claims.

Clearly, the deeds to the subject properties are valid since Chester voluntarily abandoned his homestead and no confidential relationship existed which would have raised the presumption of undue influence. Since the deeds are valid, Chester's separate estate was greater than his interest in Mary's estate, and the exercise of renouncing the will would not have produced any assets and would have been a waste of time.

Finally, Herron acted as a reasonable, prudent person would have acted under similar circumstances in the conservatorship of Chester and the estate of Mary. As a result, she fulfilled her duties as both the executrix and conservator. For these reasons, the rulings of the Chancellor should be affirmed, and any requests for partial summary judgment, which were raised by the Appellant for the first time on appeal, denied.